Conclusion
‘For truth is always strange; stranger than fiction’ Lord Byron, Don Juan, xiv, ci.
‘It is no wonder that truth is stranger than fiction, but it is because fiction is obliged to stick to possibilities; truth is not’ Mark Twain Following the Equator epigraph to chapter fifteen.
    In this Conclusion we will assess whether some of Fucini’s novelle have their basis in fact and whether it can be confirmed that he is a true Tuscan verista. In the light of this evidence his place in the Italian realist school can be reassessed.
     When Pietro Pancrazi interviewed Fucini in 1919, and asked him the reason for the popularity of his novelle, Fucini replied: ‘Forse è che son vere.’
 Fucini’s reply prompted the undersigned to consider whether Fucini’s novelle could have their basis in fact. This search for evidence led to research in numerous archives in Tuscany, especially in Florence, Pistoia, Livorno and particularly in the Appennino Pistoiese at Cutigliano, Pracchia, San Marcello, and nearby in the Padule di Fucecchio at Porciano and Cintolese. Research in these archives produced positive evidence which we will examine later. However, firstly, as we have seen in the Introduction, we have Fucini’s own confirmation that Scampagnata and many other events and characters in his novelle are based on fact, ‘colte dal vero’, since he states this quite unequivocably in Acqua Passata:
Ero pieno di ricordi, di scene, di aneddoti e di tipi originali incontrati nelle mie deliziose escursioni sull’Appennino pistoiese; ma non avevo mai pensato a scriverli…Ero soddisfatto del mio lavoro che, letto in famiglia, la sera stessa a veglia, ottenne quel successo clamoroso che poi ebbe anche in pubblico. Avrei voluto fare di più, ma forse avrei fatto male. Avrei voluto aggiungere tante e tante pennellate vivacissime che mi rimasero, prudentemente, nel cervello e nella penna. Ho detto “prudentemente” e ho adoperato il vocabolo giusto perchè molte, anzi quasi tutte quelle pennellate, sebbene colte dal vero, sarebbero sembrate non soltanto non vere, ma neanche verosimili. 
 

We have also seen in Chapter Four how Cecco Bartolini, from Pistoia, may well have been the real-life model for Sor Cosimo in Scampagnata.

    Secondly, Fucini states that Il Matto delle giuncaie was inspired by a real hunting-expedition at Stabbia, in the Padule di Fucecchio, which Fucini took part in, togther with Telemaco Signorini and other huntsmen.
 It also transpires that Il monumento, in which the initial elaborate plans by the inhabitants of a small Tuscan town to raise a statue to their local ‘illustre cittadino’, come to nothing, is also based on real events. In a letter from Fucini to Emilia Peruzzi, dated Empoli, 6 March 1893, he refers to a subscription for the commissioning, and raising of a statue to Vincenzo Chiarugi, 
 - the celebrated physician, one of Empoli’s most eminent sons and Empoli’s own ‘illustre cittadino’:

 ‘Per premure fattemi, le mando questa nota di sottoscrizione per un monumento a Vincenzo Chiarugi. Se non le piacesse occuparsene, me la rimandi pari pari (o meglio non me la rimandi scrivendomi) e amici più di prima.’ 
 Indeed, correspondence between Fucini and Emilia Peruzzi 
 reveals that plans were made by the Empolesi to engage the young, aspiring sculptor, Italo Vagnetti, 
 to sculpt a statue of Chiarugi . 
However, as we learn in Fucini’s reply to Emilia, the proposal to raise a statue to Chiarugi, in Empoli, similarly, came to nothing and this incident too, was the inspiration for identical events, which have an identical outcome, in Il monumento and fact becomes fiction.
 This is further evidence that Fucini based some of his characters depicted in his novelle, on people who really existed and on events which had actually taken place.  

    As we have seen from his inspector’s notebooks, just as Lo spaccapietre was inspired by a meeting with a real-life stonebreaker, Passaggio memorabile was very probably inspired by his meeting with real charlatans, and the same is true of his numerous encounters with real montanini depicted in Vanno in Maremma, and Tornan di Maremma as well as Il battello. The musical instruments and the passagallo described in Fucini’s notebooks could also have inspired Sereno e nuvole and the phrase ‘fra due litiganti’ could have been the spark of inspiration for Fra due litiganti. Dolci ricordi, Il battello, La giacchetta rivoltata and Tipi che spariscono all contain genuine autobiographical elements which clearly indicate they have been inspired by real events and by real people.
    In Foglie al Vento Fucini also confirms that La pipa di Batone is also based on an experience which actually occurred: 
Qualche anno più tardi [probably in 1852] corsi anche più grave lo stesso pericolo in Arno fra Spicchio e Limite, dove, trasportato dalla corrente in un basso fondo irto di massi caduti dalla collina corrosa e rimasti lì quasi a fior d’acqua, fui travolto e sbatacchiato per un lungo tratto finchè varcata quella specie di cateratta fui tirato fuori dall’acqua mezzo svenuto da un certo Arcangelo Fucini, amico nostro e non parente, il quale, accortosi del mio pericolo, correndo lungo la ripa, era venuto prudentemente ad aspettarmi per togliermi dall’acqua o vivo o morto.    

    Al vivo ricordo di questi due momenti terribili debbo di certo i veri e vivaci colori coi quali tanti anni dopo ho descritto il salvataggio di una bambina in uno dei miei bozzetti intitolato La pipa di Batone.

    The arrest of il Bimbo in Tigrino for not revealing the identity of the poacher to the Brigadiere dei carabinieri, which forms the lynch-pin of Tigrino, also has its basis on a real-life episode. Fucini confirms this in Caccia al Vento, stating that a certain signor Armando had to appeal to sor Giuseppe (the surnames of the real-life individuals have been omitted for legal reasons) to intercede with Barone Pontelli-Grossi for the release of his son, Spartaco, who had been arrested while shooting ‘in contrabbando’ in the Bosco di Carraia.

    La maestrina, whose name, Luisa, is only revealed towards the middle of the story when she faints at the railway station on being separated from her mother who has to return to her ailing father and, fortunately, falls ‘quasi priva di sensi fra le braccia della Belloni (p.168), is initially referred to as ‘quel povero fiorellino sepolto fra le ortiche’(p.169). Indeed, there is scant information about her in the story. We learn she originally hailed from northern Italy: ‘da un paese lontano, lontano, in una vallata delle Alpi’(p.166), who travelled down with her mother, as chaperone, to take up her post as maestra at the local elementary-school at ‘Il Castellucchio’. The reference to ‘gli abitanti del Castellucchio…veduto sulla carta geografica quasi alle porte di Firenze’(p.168) might have been a deliberate red herring by Fucini to draw the reader’s attention away from the real place where the real-life maestrina actually hailed from, where she really lived, and where the real-life drama really took place, thereby making it more difficult to discover her true identity.
    Luisa is described as an attractive young woman and is considered ‘un buon partito’ not only for her beauty, but also for her considerable salary of seven hundred lire per year.
 However, largely out of pure jealousy, the local inhabitants soon change their opinion of her and begin to shun her: ‘Pochi giorni dopo, molte simpatie si erano raffreddate, la maestra aveva un soprannome: la chiamavano <la Principessa>’ (p.169) until she is snubbed and finally marginalized by them.
Fucini’s final, poignant, description of the sorry state to which the couple have been reduced to:
Nella scuola vi sono quattro bambini soli, uno dei quali dorme, tenendo stretto in mano un pezzo di pane sbocconcellato. Un pollo glielo ruba con una beccata e corre in tondo per la stanza rincorso dagli altri polli che vorrebbero rubarlo a lui.
 Gli altri ragazzi ridono e fanno chiasso a quella scena; la maestra non vede né sente nulla. Buttata indietro sulla spalliera della seggiola, immobile, quasi irriconoscibile per il pallore del viso e per il disordine delle vesti e dei capelli arruffati, tiene al soffitto gli occhi spalancati che non vedono.
    Fuori, seduto sullo scalino della porta dove passa i giorni interi perchè è geloso, Gigiotto, scalzo e scamiciato, dorme con le spalle al muro, tenendo disteso sulle ginocchia un bambino lattante, esso pure addormentato. In terra, lì accanto fra la polvere, v’è un cappello e una pipa che gli sono cascati nel sonno.(p.175)
 is full of pathos and the reader is meant to infer that Luisa, like Fiorella, has, or probably will, suffer a nervous breakdown and possibly lose her mind completely.
 Fucini, faithful to veristic principles, ends his story with neither comment nor explanation. 
    In an attempt to discover the true identity of the real-life maestrina, research was undertaken in the archives at San Marcello Pistoiese but to no avail, and was transferred to the archives at Pracchia where it was discovered that a school-mistress, a certain Angela Orlandini, taught at the elementari at Pracchia in the 1880s. She took lodgings there and fell pregnant to her land-lady’s son, none of whom it has been possible to identify with certainty, as yet, so she remained a possibility, for the identity of the real-life maestrina. 

    After research in the archives at Monsummano, Lamporecchio and Porciano, near Cintolese and the Padule di Fucecchio, it transpired that there was a ‘maestra delle elementari’ who was employed at Porciano who, it was rumoured, had fallen pregnant and had given birth, out of wedlock. Initially, I drew a blank because this maestra did not live in lodgings but was given accommodation by the mayor of Porciano who had appointed her personally, since appointments at the time were in the gift of mayors, a process which was open to potential corruption.
 Given that most writers, even veristi, often adapted or even altered the ‘real facts’ to suit their literary and artistic purposes, I thought Fucini might have had good reasons for not wishing to reveal the true identity of the real-life school-mistress. This could explain why the story was published, posthumously, in 1922, a year after Fucini’s death. After further research, I discovered the name of the real-life maestrina at Porciano, was a certain Italia Donati.
    According to the general census of January 1865, Italia Donati was born in 1863 into a poor peasant family ‘alle Case Bini… situazione di famiglia no 7’ on the margins of the Padule di Fucecchio, in the Val di Nievole, in the Province of Pistoia.
 Her father, Gaspero, was a humble broom-maker (a granataio) who gathered and cut reeds in the Padule di Fucecchio, (as Fucini describes in Il Matto delle giuncaie) and her brother, Italiano, a modest cobbler. The local priest, realizing Italia was intelligent and showed considerable potential, advised her to study, which she duly did. At that time, one of the few means open to Italia Donati to enable her to rise above her social station was to train to become an elementary school-teacher. This was an unusual step for a young woman from her background when most women in Europe, let alone in rural Tuscany, were not very emancipated.
 She was immediately criticized, even by local peasants in the Val di Nievole, who were invariably illiterate and who became jealous of her, and like the maestrina in Fucini’s story, Italia was accused of giving herself airs and graces. Italia was also accused of being a social-climber and even a traitor to her class - although the principal factor which motivated her to improve her social standing was purely economic. After numerous sacrifices and intense study, she finally obtained her elementary-teacher’s diploma, in 1883, and secured her first teaching-post at nearby Porciano.

    Italia was appointed to her post at Porciano by the local mayor, a certain Raffaello Torrigiani, a local signorotto of the minor nobility, who, at that time, together with his councillors, had the power to appoint and to dismiss elementary school-teachers and also medici condotti.
 Italia was warned by many who knew what Torrigiani was like, not to accept the post, nor to live in Torrigiani’s house, a later obligatory condition he imposed on Italia, on offering her the post, precisely because of his bad reputation. It later transpired Torrigiani was generally considered to be a libertine who lived with two women under the same roof - one his wife, the other, a common-law wife who was his mistress. He had fathered children by both these women. Torrigiani was also a tyrannical mayor, often imposing his will on his councillors, and it is very likely that he served as the real-life model for several of Fucini’s mayors in his stories, particularly the vain and incompetent Sor Girolamo in Passaggio memorabile, or the equally incompetent mayors who feature in La fatta, Scampagnata, Il monumento, La fonte di Pietrarsa and La visita del Prefetto. Since Torrigiani was a notorious womanizer and Italia was an attractive and available woman, he insisted on her residing with him and his family because he probably nurtured designs on her from the start. Since no other accommodation was available, nor wishing to jeopardize her new position, Italia had no alternative but to take up residence in the Torrigiani household.
    As we have seen in several of Fucini’s stories, particularly in La fatta, where La Biagiotta is described as a typically malicious gossip ‘che a sentir dir male del prossimo ci stava con più devozione che alla messa cantata’(p.48), and also in Passaggio memorabile, gossip and rumour are very prevalent in small Tuscan towns and hamlets and, probably, out of sheer jealousy, Italia was unjustly accused, moreover, without a shred of evidence, by the Porcianesi of having had an affair with Torrigiani, of having fallen pregnant by him and of having had his child - a serious accusation at any time, but especially scandalous in a tightly-knit community in rural Tuscany, in the 1880s. Like the maestrina in Fucini’s story, who is snubbed and marginalized by the inhabitants of Il Castellucchio, the real-life maestrina, Italia Donati, was similarly snubbed and gradually ostracized by the inhabitants of Porciano. Things reached a head when anonymous letters were sent to her superiors at her school, to the Ministry of Education and even to Fucini himself as a school-inspector for the Appennino Pistoiese Circondario in which these false allegations were made. Italia was even falsely accused of having aborted Torrigiani’s child.
 Needless to say, there was no truth in these allegations. In the spring of 1886, Italia wrote to her superiors, including Fucini, the school-inspector of her Circondario, complaining she had been the object of a vile calumny and had been ostracized by the inhabitants of Porciano.
 She appealed to Fucini, assuming he had the power to transfer her to another school, who, in turn, referred the matter to the sotto-prefetto, who, subsequently, took no action. It is also possible that Italia was endeavouring to negotiate a transfer to another elementary-school, at nearby Cecina, by herself. It is also possible, although improbable, that Fucini was a friend of mayor Torrigiani, although I have been unable to find evidence to confirm this. Elena Gianini Belotti states in her biographical novel on Italia Donati that Fucini did not reply to Italia’s letter.
 

    Deeply depressed by the vicious calumny perpetrated against her and ostracized by the inhabitants of Porciano, Italia Donati could not bear her harsh and depressing existence any longer, and was driven to drowning herself in the race of a watermill (just as Pipetta does in Fiorella) on the first of June, 1886. She left a letter to her brother, Italiano, requesting her body be examined by doctors to prove her innocence:
Sono innocentissima di tutte le cose fattemi …A te, unico fratello, a te mi raccomando con tutto il cuore, e a mani giunte, di far quello che occorrerà per far risorgere l’onor mio. Non ti spaventi la mia morte, ma ti tranquillizzi pensando che con quella ritorna l’onore della nostra famiglia. Sono vittima dell’infame pubblico e non cesserò di essere perseguita che con la morte. Prendi il mio corpo cadavere, e dietro sezione e visita medico-sanitaria fai luce a questo mistero. Sia la mia innocenza giustificata.

She expressed the wish to be buried at Cintolese but realizing her family could not afford to transport her body there, ended her tragic note thus: ‘Se questo non è possible, lasciatemi in questo posto pietoso e sulla mia tomba scrivete queste parole: Qui giace l’infortunata vittima Italia Donati, maestra di Porciano.’

    Italia’s wishes were respected and after due medical examination, she was declared virgo intacta - incontrovertible proof of her innocence. Italia Donati, a victim of calumny, had been driven to suicide but she wanted to prove her innocence. Raffaello Torrigiani was later forced to stand down as mayor of Porciano by his fellow councillors and was never again re-elected to the post of mayor.

    Although the details of fact and fiction do not always overlap exactly, there are many similarities and coincidences between the events narrated in La maestrina and the real-life events leading to Italia Donati’s tragic death. The dates for when Fucini was a school-inspector and when Italia was teaching, tally exactly. Moreover, Fucini would certainly have known of the widely publicized Donati case and being the school-inspector for the Pistoia and the Appennino Pistioese Circondario, he would certainly have known Italia personally. He may well have used some of the details of Italia’s tragic case, which became a cause célèbre and made the national headlines with a hard-hitting article in La Nazione of 12 June, 1886, which prompted Matilde Serao to write her lengthy critical article ‘Come muoiono le maestre’ for her Corriere di Roma,
 to form the basis of his La maestrina, since Italia’s tragic story would be of great interest to his readers.
 The final proof and incontrovertible evidence that Fucini knew Italia Donati and must therefore, have based La maestrina on Italia Donati, came in a recently published letter which Fucini wrote to Emilia Peruzzi, dated Florence, 27 June, 1886:
Gentil.ma Sig. Emilia,….
Mercoledì porto tutta la famiglia a Livorno dove si tratterranno due mesi, e mi toccherà lasciarla subito perché giovedì devo essere alla Sambuca per gli esami. Di lì avrò da andare a S. Marcello 
 [Pistoiese] e da S. Marcello, più in là, tantoché non so nemmeno io quando e dove mi fermerò a prendere un’ora di pace.
    Ha sentito di quella povera maestrina che si uccise? Era del mio Circondario ed avevo fatto tanto per lei che nell’inchiesta del Ministero mi sono trovato corazzato come la Lepanto.
 Ma, quel che più conta, la mia coscienza mi diceva: non aver rimorsi, ché hai fatto il tuo dovere…
   Buon viaggio e buon ritorno fra gli amici, dei quali uno fedele è il Suo devot.mo
          R. Fucini’.

    After extensive research, it also transpires that the main character in Il signor cappellano, the gout-ridden, cane-happy teacher who displayed obvious signs of sadism since he liberally caned his unruly school-boys, was also based on a real-life person. In the unpublished manuscript of a lecture on L’Appennino Pistoiese which Fucini delivered to the Circolo Artistico of Florence, in 1906,
 Fucini states in the section on the characters and ‘types’ he had encountered on his tours in the Appennino Pistoiese:
O il mio stupendo cappellano, maestro alla scuola di... sul nome di lui e del luogo lasciamo correre - E questo merita proprio una fermata e una visita a domicilio. La prima volta che l’avvicinai nella sua scuola, mi dettero nell’occhio tre lunghi vergoni di castagno appoggiati in un canto-

-E quelli? per l’insegnamento oggettivo, maestro?- Per lui fu greco, e mi rispose – Illustrissimo sì!- Quindi un gran tonfo sulla tavola per chetare gli alunni che rumoreggiavano, e poi, presi i tre vergoni, mi spiegò che il più corto era / per la 1a [i.e. prima]; il mezzano per la seconda e il più lungo per la terza sezione. E se li palleggiava disinvolto come Diomede l’asta poderosa.

- Sta benissimo, osservai; la prima sezione è lì nei primi banchi, dunque è più che sufficiente quello corto. La 2a due banchi indietro…va benissimo anche quello. Ma per la 3a sezione laggiù in fondo, [maestro deleted for] cappellano, come la rimedia per dare con sicurezza nel segno? E quando rebbia dalla sua cattedra a uno degli ultimi, non le accade mai di agguantarne anche qualcuno di quelli che rimangono sullo stradale?- Con un arruffamento dei sopraccigli mi fece capire che egli pure aveva notato questo leggiero inconveniente del metodo... .
The fact that Fucini later transferred the text of this lecture to his story Il signor cappellano verbatim, but this was not published until a year after Fucini’s death, clearly confirms that this novella is also based on a real character and on real events.

    It is interesting to note that La maestrina and Nonno Damiano, were only added, posthumously, to Le Veglie and edited by Guido Biagi, in 1922, one year after Fucini’s death, thereby avoiding any possible legal repercussions. In the case of Il signor cappellano, the story was not added to All’Aria Aperta until 1911.
 Fucini, perhaps, could not reveal the true identity of his signor cappellano for obvious legal reasons. He must have been concerned that living relatives or heirs of the cappellano or even members of the Catholic Curia might have sued for libel, since the notorious plagiarism case between Verga and Pietro Mascagni, of 1893, in which Verga was awarded 143,000 Lire, which had been a cause célèbre, was still fresh in everyone’s mind. This might also explain the Fucini family’s delay in bequeathing their grandfather’s manuscripts to the Riccardiana, until the 1950s, a full thirty years after his death.
 
    Research into archives at Cutigliano, Rossignano, Cecina and the Diocesan archives in Livorno and Pistoia, has identified the real-life signor cappellano to be a certain Don Giuseppe Pinucci who was born in Rossignano, near Cecina, in the Province of Livorno, on 13 April 1861.
 He was ordained on 20 December 1884 and taught for several months as a temporary supply teacher at the elementary-school at Cutigliano, in 1884. In real life, Fucini clearly inspected his school, some time between 1884 and 1886 and was appalled by what he saw, so much so, that Fucini, who had the authority to make an official complaint, and to have him transferred to another parish – did precisely that. Don Pinucci was transferred to the small parish church of Sant’Andrea
 at Castiglioncello, near Cecina, on 13 May 1886, where he served out his remaining years as an assistant priest, conducting funerals and similar light ministerial duties, thereby avoiding any future contact with school-boys. Don Pinucci remained at the church of Sant’Andrea until 1911 when he was transferred to the Piccola Casa della Provvidenza in Turin, where elderly priests from the diocese of Livorno spent their retirement, until his death, on 18 May, 1940. Since Don Pinucci was not buried at Castiglioncello nor at Rossignano, he was, probably, interred in Turin, since it is unlikely his body would have been transported over such a great distance, for burial in Tuscany, during the Second World War.
    If we recall, Fucini also based much of the DNA of his novelle on his jottings in his official school-inspector’s notebooks which, as we have seen, many have their basis in fact and were ‘colte dal vero’. Following the very same logic of posthumous publication, it is very probable that Nonno Damiano, is also based on a real-life character, and one can conclude that Fucini based many of the events and characters described in many of his novelle on events which actually took place and on persons who really existed. 
   Unlike Verga, Capuana, Deledda or De Roberto, Fucini never attempted a novel probably because he was persuaded by Guido Biagi in 1918, three years before his death, to concentrate on writing his autobiographical works Foglie al Vento and Acqua Passata, and consequently, Fucini will always be eclipsed by Verga’s novels. However, there can be little doubt that the ultimate accolade which Fucini sought throughout his initial literary career, which, in his view, constituted his acceptance as a verista, was the opinion of his self-imposed and chosen mentor, the one whose views on writing he had read and accepted as his personal modus operandi and his personal manifesto, ad litteram - the opinion of Giovanni Verga. The accolade eventually came in the form of a friendly, sincere and very complimentary letter from the greatest Italian exponent of verismo. On receipt of a copy of Le Veglie di Neri (1882) which Fucini had sent him, shortly after publication, Verga promptly wrote to him, from Milan, in a letter dated, 2 July, 1882:
    Stimatissimo signore
    Ella mi ha fatto un vero regalo: La conoscevo già, e La pregiavo assai per i suoi versi, e per le sue novelle che avevo letto in parte nella Rassegna Settimanale; e mi ha fatto moltissimo piacere che Ella mi abbia fatto avere l’ultimo suo volume nel quale ho trovato tanto da ammirare e da imparare. Non creda che questo sia un complimento dei soliti. Le scrivo come detta la simpatia e come si scrive a quelle persone che si stimano anche non conoscendole di persona. Quando vedo un libro come il suo, io mi rallegro per questa ‘benedetta qualche cosa’ che ci mette la penna in mano; ed Ella, oltre l’ingegno, ci ha il tesoro di quella lingua che vorrei tutti in Italia avessero succhiato col latte. Fortunati voi altri che avete nelle ossa la precisione e l’efficacia che ci vuole pel bozzetto: E dell’ingegno sobrio e acuto che ci vuole, pure Ella ne ha dato prova in quei gioielli che sono Perla, La fatta, Sereno e nuvole e La Scampagnata. Alle volte, in un periodetto, in una frase, Ella sa mettere una di quelle pennellate che fanno il quadro. Se vedesse il suo volume come è tutto lardellato di segni! A pag. 42 sono rimasto cinque minuti buoni a pensare su quel “Era uno stellato di paradiso”. E qui faccio punto, ma non ho finito e non finirei in venti pagine, e sono d’accordo col chiaro autore della Prefazione al suo volume [i.e. Giovanni Procacci] (che La prego di ringraziare da parte mia per l’onore grandissimo che mi ha fatto accomunando il mio nome a quello di Lei) sono d’accordo, dico, nel rallegrarmi di una pubblicazione come questa delle Veglie di Neri. Ora, caro Fucini, vuol permettermi che Le stringa la mano e mi dichiari, non solo suo ammiratore, ma anche suo amico?                               G. Verga.

 The phrase so admired by Verga ‘Era uno stellato di paradiso’ is the closing line of Lucia and is an eloquent testimony of how well Verga had studied and knew Fucini’s stories. As we have seen, Verga held Fucini’s novelle in very high regard and considered Fucini to be ‘il mio maestro’.
 Fucini must have been delighted with Verga’s letter for he had received fulsome praise from the greatest Italian verista and, in Fucini’s view, the greatest Italian writer of his generation - the verdict of the man whose opinion he respected more than that of any other contemporary writer. 
    Given that Verga publicly acknowledged in his letter to Masi that he considered Fucini to be his ‘maestro’, as we have seen in Chapter One,
 it is worth citing again in full:
Preg.mo Signore

Ebbi tardi, per la mia assenza da Catania, la circolare con cui mi si invitava ad unirmi all’omaggio che ci si proponeva di rendere a Renato Fucini.

      Me ne duole, perchè avrei voluto dire io pure pubblicamente quanto ammiri lo scrittore, e da quanto tempo, fin da quando lessi Perla senza conoscerlo neppur di nome, e quanto gli volli bene dopo conoscendolo e stimandolo meglio, e quanto stimi altamente l’opera sua schietta, serena, e ammaestratrice anche per chi non si occupa di lettere, o per dir meglio non crede di fare della letteratura. Pochi libri ho gustato e riletti, e studiati come i suoi Sonetti e le Veglie di Neri. A lui non importerà nulla di sentirselo dire perchè gli basta aver legato il suo nome all’opera sua, e col sentimento dell’arte ha pure il rispetto e la dignità di essa, sicchè a certe americanate letterarie del giorno d’oggi riderà sotto i baffi e dirà “Andiamo!”, come fece Neri al sor Cosimo che gli mostrava la camera dove aveva dormito il sor Angiolo,
 ma se a Lei capita mi faccia il favore di dirgli che gli voglio un gran bene, e lo tengo mio maestro, [my italics] anche senza numero unico, e senza farmi vivo come avrei dovuto fare più spesso.
La ringrazio, e L’ossequio distintamente. 

                                        G. Verga.

and from whom Verga stated he had learned so much, confirms Verga’s high opinion of Fucini. 
    Despite the clear evidence of Fucini’s realism ad litteram, Fucini’s reinsertion in the Italian realist school as ‘un maggiore toscano’ is not primarily due to his realism ad litteram, but rather, because Fucini is able to transform fact into fiction. Fucini’s fictional stories are very carefully crafted from a variety of references to real life in Tuscany at the time since many are ‘colte dal vero’, and he achieves this transformation in a variety of ways. Firstly, he produces an authentic voice for his characters which is based on numerous Tuscan dialects, principally those of the Appennino Pistoiese and the Padule di Fucecchio, although, as we have seen in the Glossary, many words and phrases and Tuscan modi di dire, taken from the dialects of other parts of Tuscany – for example, Pisan, Pistoian, Florentine and Sienese, are present in his novelle. The language of his characters, his narrator or focalizer is based on a careful and faithful observation of genuine Tuscan dialects of the period. Indeed, the language of Fucini’s novelle provides a faithful document of Tuscan dialectal usage of the period. Secondly, as well as recording Fucini’s use of Tuscan modi di dire, spropositi, pistoiesismi, sgrammaticature and dialect usage by the Tuscan popolino, the Glossary also contains numerous examples of Tuscan phenomena and examples of genuine Toscanità in Fucini’s novelle - for example, Tuscan coinage the ‘crazia’ and the ‘paolo’, Tuscan periodicals Il Sistro, and Lo Sperimentale, Tuscan weights and measures ‘il miglio Toscano’, ‘la libbra Toscana’, ‘il braccio Toscano’, the Tuscan agricultural practice of share-cropping ‘mezzadria’, food and wine particular to Tuscany in general and to the Appennino Pistoiese in particular, such as ‘ballotte’, ‘brigidini’,’broccioli’, ‘bruciate’ and ‘aleatico’ from L’isola d’Elba, are all skilfully interwoven by Fucini into his stories, thereby imparting further realism and genuine local colour to them. Thirdly, Fucini includes several narrative techniques in his stories. As well as the ‘novella rinarrata’ technique which he adopts in order to be true to veristic principles by distancing the narrator from his material, as in Il Matto delle giuncaie, Vanno in Maremma, La pipa di Batone and Dolci ricordi, to name but a few stories, he uses a cinematographic close-up technique in his two descriptions of the stone-breaker working in summer and winter. Fucini also uses a flash-back technique in La strega and Sereno e nuvole, and in La fonte di Pietrarsa he also imparts almost human qualities to the torrent which gently mocks the inhabitants of Pietrarsa as it continues to flow unharnessed, during the drought-filled summer months as arguments ensue as how best to harness the torrent. All the above techniques, to which should be added the element of surprise, or the sting in the tail ending of several stories such as La fatta, Fra due litiganti and La visita del prefetto, all serve to impart great variety to his novelle. Fourthly, Fucini’s impressionistic narrative technique further enhances his descriptions which are often taken from real life and based on individuals Fucini met. When combined with the illustrations by the Macchiaioli in Le Veglie di Neri, which create a considerable amount of synergy between text and image, all serve to enhance the veracity and fidelity of his novelle even further, especially since both Fucini and the Macchiaioli were very familiar with real life montanini, butteri, battelli, stonebreakers, woodsmen, shepherds and charcoal-burners.
    We have seen that Fucini provides his reader with a selective description of rural Tuscany. His original ambitious plan to write many bozzetti covering numerous aspects of life in the Appennino Pistoiese and the Padule di Fucecchio, was curtailed and reduced to thirty-nine novelle. However, by comparing what is described in Fucini’s novelle to what is known of the area in works by Giuseppe Tigri and Francesco Carega di Muricce, together with the evidence we have examined that Fucini based many of his characters in his novelle on people who really existed and on events which actually took place, we can be assured that what he does describe is extremely faithful and true to life. It is true that Fucini appears to have depicted mayors and their fawning councillors, as well as members of the clergy, in an unfavourable light, however, there were specific reasons for this apparent bias. The loss of his job with the comune of Florence under the leadership of Ubaldino Peruzzi and his adoption of his father’s Garibaldino politics, partially coloured his view of the mayoral ruling-classes and the clergy in Tuscany, however, as we have seen, there is evidence that some of the clergy in Tuscany were, in Bargellini’s words, ‘buontemponi e troppi amici del vino, della tavola, delle carte e della caccia’.
 Fucini appears to favour the lower orders in his stories since, in general, they are exploited by their middle and upper-class peers, although Fucini does attempt to redress the balance by showing the faults of the lower orders too. Fucini’s knowledge of the flora and the fauna in rural Tuscany, his personal experiences in having met real-life montanini, a stone-breaker and his unparalleled knowledge of Tuscan dialects, especially those of the Appennino Pistoiese and the Padule di Fucecchio, ensure that he provided his characters with a genuine Tuscan voice, another very important aspect of the overall fidelity of his novelle which provides further confirmation of his place in the Italian realist school as a verista toscano. 
    As we have seen, some of Fucini’s best stories are examples of great literature and are the equal of Verga’s, Capuana’s and Zola’s – just as some of the finest paintings by the Macchiaioli, especially those by Fattori, Signorini, Francesco and Luigi Gioli, are the equal of the better known and more celebrated paintings by the later French Impressionists. Like the Macchiaioli, he was aware that life in rural Tuscany at the end of the Ottocento, was changing, and so he, as well as his Macchiaioli counterparts, realized just how important it was to record the Tuscan rural idyll accurately and faithfully. Indeed, both Fucini’s novelle and the Macchiaioli’s paintings are important, genuine and accurate documents of rural life in Tuscany in the latter part of the Ottocento. Fucini is a modest writer who, like the Macchiaioli, tended to paint on a small canvas. He is a miniaturist, more a Hilliard, than a Veronese. However, as we have seen, a very high proportion of what Fucini describes in his novelle is clearly accurate and many of these novelle are ‘colte dal vero’, nothing is left to chance and much of what he narrates and depicts has its basis in fact – indeed, in his novelle he often transforms fact into fiction by enhancing and embellishing it for legal and artistic reasons. The reader is afforded a limited and restricted but an accurate view of life in rural Tuscany and is also provided with a genuine depiction of the hardships and vicissitudes endured by members of the lower orders in fin-de-siècle Tuscany. Fucini, it could be argued, is a socially engaged writer, purely on the basis of the material he has chosen for his novelle. However, his social criticism, with the exception of Lo spaccapietre, is almost always muted and restricted, because of the precise tenets of verismo which precluded direct intervention or comment by the writer. However, since there is little evidence of his social and political commitment in his short stories and indeed, in his life, on balance, we can conclude that he is not a politically or socially engaged writer.
    Despite a frequent tension between his desire to be politically and socially engaged, coupled with his aspiration to adhere to veristic principles, and his intention to present the reader with fact, on occasions, fact has been slightly altered into fiction by Fucini and, at times, the reader is presented with Tuscany ‘attraverso la lente dello scrittore’. However, Fucini has proved to be the ideal go-between in making the lower orders better known to the middle and upper classes, not only in Tuscany, but in the rest of the Italian peninsula, and farther afield. As Piero Bargellini stated to me, in a private interview, in 1970, ‘Il Fucini non ci dà un biglietto da diecimila lire falso, ci dà una monetina, ma questa monetina è una monetina d’oro perfetta in ogni suo dettaglio’. The fidelity of Fucini’s language and the overarching accuracy of his descriptions of life in fin-de-siècle rural Tuscany are further eloquent testimonies to his firm re-establishment in the Italian realist school as a verista toscano maggiore.
   Perhaps, Croce’s opinion that Fucini was ‘un minore’, should now be revised and due acknowledgement and a more important place in the Italian realist school should be accorded Fucini. Despite being considered, perhaps, a little too peremptorily, ‘un minore’ by Croce, there can be little doubt that Fucini is a great Tuscan verista. Indeed, more modern critics, especially Mario Giordano, propose that in the
vasto quadro dei ‘minori’ è possibile ritagliare un ristretto numero di ‘maggiori’ che si presentano con una propria spiccata fisionomia e con un proprio decoro artistico. È questo il caso quanto meno del Capuana, del Pratesi, del Fucini, della Serao, del De Roberto o della Deledda le cui figure certamente meritano qualche considerazione particolare.
 
  In view of the evidence presented, in my opinion, the time is both right and ripe for reasserting Fucini’s place in the tradition of Italian verismo and his special role as a Tuscan verista, particularly in relation to the linguistic choices which were available to him, given the importance of educated Tuscan in the development of the Italian national language and the Italian national literary tradition. In the final analysis, there can be little doubt that Fucini holds a very prominent place as ‘un verista toscano maggiore’ within the birth and development of the Italian realist school. 
    Fucini should also rightly be considered the father of a Tuscan realist school. His novelle clearly influenced and were emulated by Mario Pratesi (1842-1921), his close contemporary and fellow Grossetano (born at Santa Fiora sull’Amiata), who was the author of poems La notte (1866), Memorie del mio amico Tristano (1869), his numerous novels set in Siena and the Sienese region, including Jacopo e Marianna (1872), his novelle In Provincia (1883), L’Eredità (1889), Il Mondo di Dolcetta (1895) and La Dama del Minuetto (1910). Other writers who immediately followed Fucini, especially the prolific Florentine Ferdinando Paolieri (1878-1928) the author of the celebrated Novelle Toscane owe a great debt to Fucini,
 and even before Paolieri, Ildefonso Nieri (1853-1920) who faithfully describes his Lucchesia together with the Sienese writer Federico Tozzi (1883-1920) who examines the theme of ineptitude in Con gli occhi chiusi (1913), Tre croci (1920) and Il podere (1920). Giuseppe Lipparini (1877-1951) who, although not Tuscan by birth (he was Bolognese) but found himself convalescing at Cutigliano, in the Appennino Pistoiese, where he met a charming lady, whom he married, wrote his I racconti di Cutigliano (1930). Although Roman by birth, Carlo Cassola (1917-1987) set his celebrated La Ragazza di Bube in Florence. However, all of these writers were later to eclipse Fucini, principally because they were more prolific, and unlike Fucini, who never wrote a novel, were to receive wider critical acclaim, especially outside Italy and, in particular, for their novels. Aldo Rossi, moreover, sees strong evidence in Fucini’s novelle which point to ‘I prototipi di certi buffi novecenteschi targati Aldo Palazzeschi’.
 Nor should we forget the work of more recent Tuscan writers including Andrea Tacchi, from Montecatini, who wrote Ombre padulane in 1965,
 and Iride Rossi Micheli, author of Novelle toscane dalla Maremma all’Amiata.
 Moreover, Alessandro Benni, from Firenzuola, in the Alto Mugello, author of I racconti della ciuca in 2009  has stated he is proud to be writing ‘nella tradizione Fuciniana’,
 which underlines just how much Fucini’s tradition of narrative, set in Tuscany, is still very much alive in our own day. 
    It is, perhaps, appropriate that the final word on the subject should be left to Renato Fucini himself. In order to complete his reply to Pietro Pancrazi’s original question – ‘Com’è che le sue novelle piacciono quando si ha quindici anni e poi di più a trenta?’ Fucini replied, ‘forse è che sono vere’, however, he also added the following in his reply to Pancrazi, which, in essence, captures Plato’s maxim and Aristotle’s Golden Mean on Truth and Beauty in his Poetics and in his Nicomachean Ethics, in Fucini’s very telling phrase: ‘e in arte le cose vere sono anche belle’.
� Pietro Pancrazi ‘Il Fucini poeta de’ Pisani e novelliere dei Macchiaioli’ in Scrittori italiani dal Carducci al D’Annunzio (Bari: Laterza, 1937), p.108.








� Come nacque la ‘Scampagnata’, Acqua Passata, pp.563-64, however, this is uncorroborated.


3 See Chapter Four page 242 of this thesis, however, this is uncorroborated and is not mentioned by Alfredo Chiti in his ‘Ricordi pistoiesi di Renato Fucini’ Bullettino storico pistoiese, (Pistoia), 45, (1943), (numero 1-2, January-June ) pp. 3-28.


4 Principal among whom was Augusto Franchetti a frequent contributor to Nuova Antologia.


5 This is confirmed by Lazzeri who suggests the incident was incorporated in Il monumento see op. cit., Letter CLII, p.120. Vincenzo Chiarugi (Empoli 1759-Florence 1820) was an eminent physician. After graduating in medicine from Pisa University he became head of the Bonifazio Hospital, a member of the Georgofili and the Colombaria Academies and was appointed the personal physician of Maria Anna Elisa Bonaparte, the Granduchess of Tuscany.


























6 See Emilia Peruzzi’s letter to Fucini dated Villa [d’Antella] 17 [8]bre [18]94: ‘Pare che si pensi sul serio al monumento al Chiarugi. Vi aspira il bravo giovane scultore Vagnetti. La prego di mandarmi un suo biglietto di presentazione per lui dicendomi quali sono le persone alle quali va bene rivolgersi per questa faccenda...scriva le memorie di un Ispettore scolastico; mi ricordi con affetto a sua Moglie e mi abbia sempre per sua. Aff.ma E. Pzi’ Letter CLX, op. cit., p.127.


7 Italo Vagnetti (1864-1933) was a celebrated Florentine sculptor and was so admired by Emilia Peruzzi she commissioned him to sculpt the statue in memory of her late husband Ubaldino which was unveiled at L’Antella on 11 September 1892 see Ubaldo Bardi, Massimiliano Marchi e Michele Turchi I Peruzzi all’Antella (Antella[ Florence]: Edizioni CRC, 1998).


8 Dated Dianella, 23 October, 1894:‘E il monumento al Chiarugi? Me n’ero dimenticato. L’esecuzione di quest’opera è tanto incerta e tanto lontana che ci sarà tempo, o se ci sarà tempo! Di parlarne quando ci vedremo. E quando farò a lei gli auguri per il nuovo anno, dirò: viva, Sig.a Emilia, viva fino a quando sarà innalzata in Empoli una statua al Chiarugi. E sarà questo un augurio di vita così lunga che il povero Noè dovrà ritirarsi nel Limbo fra i marmottini morti nelle fasce. 


           Suo devoto e fedele amico R. Fucini’. Lazzeri, op.cit., p.129.








� ‘A Livorno (dal 1849-1853)’, Foglie al Vento, p.720. This statement is uncorroborated, however,  Lazzeri accepts the incident was incorporated into Il monumento, see op.cit. p.120.





� ‘Caccia al Vento’, ibid., pp.758-64 (p.760). This statement is uncorroborated.


� Fucini only mentions the sum of settecento lire but does not state that this is an annual salary However, we learn in the same story that Luisa’s father ‘un povero medico pensionato a cinquecento lire l’anno’ (p.168) lives off a pension of five hundred lire per annum which is a good yardstick with which to compare Luisa’s annual salary -- clearly seven hundred lire a month would be too generous. This sum accords well with the price of five lire paid for an illustrated copy of the first illustrated edition of Fucini’s Veglie (page 245) or the fifty lire Fucini paid Fattori for a personal painting commission see (page 238).


� This recalls Verga’s phrase in Pane Nero ‘le galline quando non hanno nulla da beccare nella stia si beccano fra di loro.’ 


13 See the penultimate paragraph of Fiorella, p.104.





14 Mayors and councillors held this power as late as 1911 when such appointments (and the appointment of medici condotti) following the passing of the Legge Daneo-Credaro (1911), transferred this power solely to the Italian State, thereby eliminating any possibility of corruption and nepotism see Elena Gianini Belotti, Prima della quiete: Storia di Italia Donati (Milan: Rizzoli, 2005), p.15. Matilde Serao played a significant part in bringing in this new legislation in her role as a journalist in her articles in Corriere di Roma, 25 June 1886, and cited in La Repubblica, 27 August 2003, p.11.


� Archivio di Stato di Pistoia, Censimento della Provincia di Pistoia, Censimento della frazione di Cintolese, January 1865.


� Italian women were not given the vote until 2 June 1946.


� As we see with the panel-doctor in Passaggio memorabile. However, on occasions, panel-doctors and elementary-school teachers could turn the tables on their employers and could transfer to another condotta or teaching post at very short notice, thereby leaving the Comune high and dry as occurs in Passaggio memorabile and Il signor cappellano respectively.


� Searches in the archives at Pistoia and the Ministry of Education in Rome to trace correspondence regarding Italia Donati have proved fruitless, and may have been destroyed, however, I have relied on contemporary reports see Carlo Paladini, ‘Le sventure di Italia Donati’ in Corriere della Sera, (Milan) 10-11 June, 1886.


� See Elena Gianini Belotti, op.cit., p.136.


� Ibid., p.136.                                                                      


� Carlo Paladini, ibid..


� Ibid..


� Gianini Belotti, p.136.


� Matilde Serao ‘Come muoiono le maestre’ Corriere di Roma, 25 June 1886. Apart from the celebrated Donati case, Serao also wrote in the same article about Giovanna Errico, another teacher who died of exhaustion and starvation. De Amicis may well have been inspired by the Donati case to create Maestra Lariani in Cuore.


� Carlo Paladini, a journalist from the Corriere della Sera, was sent to Porciano as soon as news of Italia Donati’s death was announced. Paladini duly reported the proceedings of the council at Porciano for the Corriere on a daily basis in June 1886. The councillors persuaded Torrigiani to resign his post of mayor and since all council meetings were reported in the Corriere, Torrigiani attempted to sue the paper for defamation, but lost his case.


� (La) Sambuca and San Marcello Pistoiese are medium sized towns in the Appennino Pistoiese and were well known to Fucini. 


� The Lepanto was a battleship built in Livorno in 1883 to the design of the naval engineer Benedetto Brin. 


� The original manuscript letter is in the Biblioteca Nazionale Centrale di Firenze (CEP, cass.74, ins.13, n.10, 4 ff.) and was only discovered and published in 2006, see Claudia Lazzeri, op. cit., letter number CXXV, p.100 who also concludes Fucini based his maestrina on Italia Donati, ibid..


� Fondo Fucini, L’Appennino Pistoiese-Conferenza- (delivered to the Circolo Artistico di Firenze in 1906) his unpublished manuscript which carries the number 44331, is in 40 folios. The undersigned discovered the unpublished manuscript in 2005 since it had been mis-shelved and, consequently, had been unavailable to readers. Athough uncorroborated it is unlikely Fucini was economical with the truth while delivering a public lecture.


�All’Aria Aperta, (Florence: Bemporad, 1911).


� The Fucini family did not bequeath all their grandfather’s manuscripts to the Riccardiana till the 1950s- deliberately holding back anything they considered to be sensitive, or in the words of Prof. Enzo Fucini ‘roba un po’ spinta’.


� These details are reproduced from a photocopy of the official register held at the Archivio Diocesano di Livorno. The latter, containing a photograph of Don Pinucci, is reproduced in Appendix Four, p.449.


� The Church of Sant’Andrea was founded by Cosimo II (1590-1621) in 1621. In 1864, ‘per regia decreta’, it was transformed into a Chaplaincy subordinate to the Parish of Castelnuovo della Misericordia. Odoardo Borrani painted a copy of La chiesina di Sant’Andrea a Castiglioncello (1865?, Firenze) for Fucini, see Francesca Dini, Stefania Frezzotti Da Corot ai Macchiaoli al simbolismo, Nino Costa e il paesaggio dell’anima, (Milan: Skira, 2009). Borrani’s painting is reproduced in Appendix Four, Fig. 21.





� Aurelio Navarria, ‘Lettere del Capuana e del Verga a Renato Fucini’ Belfagor, 15, 1960, (pp.466-68).


� Corrado Masi quoted on pages 64-65 of this thesis.


� Ibid., p 62 and pp. 64-5. 


37 The reference is to the incident in Scampagnata when Signor Cosimo takes the narrator on a tour of his rambling house.


38 Verga’s letter to Corrado Masi, honouring Fucini, which is so important it is worth citing once more, in full, was published in Il piccolo corriere, 3, no. 23, 7 June, 1908 and was later reproduced in Masi’s Renato Fucini, op. cit., pp.25. Verga’s letter to Masi appears on pages 4-5.


 





� Piero Bargellini, ‘L’anticlericale Renato Fucini’ L’Avvenire d’Italia, 10 April, 1943.





40 Mario Gabriele Giordano Il verismo, Verga e i veristi minori: storia, testi e critica (Naples: Conte, [1992] ), p.149.


� Paolieri’s story La morte della strega, has much in common with Fucini’s  La strega and the same is true of Stellino the dog poisoned by a cruel game-keeper recalling the equally cruel fate of Perla at the hands of her new peasant owners. Paolieri’s Novelle Toscane were first published in Turin, in 1914, by Libreria Editrice Internazionale. 


� Aldo Rossi prefazione a R. Fucini, Tutti i racconti (Florence: Salani, 1988), p.XVIII.


� Andrea Tacchi, Ombre padulane (London: Macdonald and Evans, 1965).


44 Iride Rossi Micheli, Novelle toscane dalla Maremma all’Amiata (Arcidosso: Effigi, 2010). 


45 Alessandro Benni, La ciuca e altri racconti (Rome: Cromografica, 2009), p. 4.
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